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Chairman’s Statement

EEHE

On behalf of the board of directors of China Infrastructure
Investment Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the final results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2018.

ANNUAL RESULTS

The turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2013 was approximately HK$6,683,000, as compared with
approximately HK$13,617,000 in 2012. The Group had exerted
stringent cost control such as decreasing the rental expenses
and staff costs during the year so as to reduce the general
and administrative costs from approximately HK$51,620,000
for the year ended 31 December 2012 to approximately
HK$39,945,000 this year, being 22.6% reduction. The loss
attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2013 increased to approximately HK$85,148,000,
compared with the loss attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$15,414,000 over the corresponding
period of 2012.

On 10 December 2012, the Group successfully obtained
40% equity interests in BRFEMBRIBEXARAF] (Nanjing
Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*) (“Nanjing Taihe
Yingke”) at a consideration of HK$300,000,000 through
acquiring 40% equity interests in Forward Investment (PRC)
Company Limited (“Forward Investment”). The principal
assets of Forward Investment is the 100% equity interests
in Nanjing Taihe Yingke, which main asset is a complex
development project (the Uiangning Project”) located in
Jiangning Development Zone, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC. The Jiangning Project is designed as a composite
complex comprising two towers of commercial space and
service apartments. A six-storey tower with a planned
gross floor area of 39,241.48 square metres is planned to
house the commercial space, and an 18-storey tower with
a planned gross floor area of 20,882.52 square metres is
planned to house the service apartments. The total planned
gross floor area of the Jiangning Project is approximately
74,642.00 square metres which includes a basement of
approximately 14,518.00 square metres, and land use rights
of approximately 20,050.90 square metres.

AAZBRERFPEEELEFARAR ([AR7A))
2EEE MAREARAREMBAR (5H
[AREE ) BE-_T—=F+-_A=t+—BIF
ERE2FELE -

EFXE

REBE-_ZT—=F+_A=1+—HLFE X&
BEx8 2 %54 56,683,000 L M_T——
FRIFA13,617,00087C « NEBERFANE IR
BRI A SIEE - R ERAEHERABE
A Bt—REkITHRERBREE T —Z—F1+=
A=+—HLFE Z#51,620,0008 TR ER
FE 2 #939,945,000/8 7T + FE18E22.6% o &L
ET—ZF+-_AZ+—HLLEE  ARRE
BAEREBEIEINES A85,148,000/ 7T * M=
T-—FRPASEARERE ARGEERNA
15,414,00078 7T °

RZE—ZFF+ZA+H AEEKIHU
300,000,000 T HEBRERMEE (FH) AR
AT ([RMIRE]) 40%RE AR S A REME
BMEXERAA ([MREMABE]) 40%K#E -
RIREZTEEEREREMAR Z100%8
- MERERMANFEEEARTISHEE @ T
EHEARNARFRIHEAEVIEREREZLE
BREIEH (VIEEE]) - JIHFEE 2R AH
MIERERREABREER ZLEFHRIER ©
REEEMMEAR9,241.48F K2 NEEAE
RERmERE - MREIEEMER20,882.52F
FARZISERANEREERISAS - JIEHE Z
BIRBEEMBANB74,642.00F 5K BIEH
14,518.00F K2 E » LAK420,050.90F /5
Kz i fE FAE o



Up to the date of this report, both the construction progress
and the pre-sale of commercial building and the service
apartment building developed by Nanjing Taihe Yingke at
Jiangning District of Nanjing performed well and in line
with the expectation. Approximately 1,600 square meters
of the gross floor area of the commercial building have
been pre-sold with average selling price of approximately
RMB37,100 per square meters. Approximately 330 service
apartment units with approximately 17,500 square meters
of the gross floor area have been pre-sold with average
selling price of approximately RMB12,100 per square meters.
The Jiangning Project is still undergoing the installation
of the superstructure. The main building inspection of the
service apartment had been finished by 2013 and is currently
pending for the installation of the electricity system. The
construction of the service apartment building is expected to
be completed in the first half of 2014, while the commercial
building is expected to be completed in 2015.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, this investment
will provide the annual return undertaking of not less than
12% of the consideration which can generate stable revenue
streams and cash surplus for the Group. On 15 May 20183,
the guarantors of the subscription agreement had fulfilled
their obligations regarding the return undertaking and
compensated the shortfall of the profit guarantee for the
year ended 31 December 2012, being approximately HK$2.07
million, to the Group.

The Board considered that the investment in the ten
residential properties, namely E2, E3, E4, Eb, EB, E7, ES,
E9, E10 and E15, located at Las Pinadas, Clear Water Bay
Road, Sai Kung, New Territories (the “Properties”) could not
reach the Company’s expectations on its investment return
rate and income. Therefore, on 9 August 2013, the Company
announced that it had resolved to dispose of the entire
issued share capital of Steady Foundation, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and the owner of the
Properties, by way of public tender. The public tender closed
on 25 September 2013 and two bids were received by the
Company’s solicitor by then. The Company accepted the
tender which offered the highest aggregate consideration of
the Sale Share and the Shareholder’s Loan on 27 September
2013. On 9 October 2013, the Company and the purchaser,
an independent third party, entered into the agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to
sell, and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase,
the Sale Share and the Shareholder’s Loan at an aggregate
consideration of HK$240,888,888, subject to adjustment
(the “Steady Foundation Disposal”). The Steady Foundation
Disposal was completed on 23 December 2013.
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In December 2011, the Group acquired 49% equity interests
in tRERIERRAER AT (Beijing Changdongshun Gas
Limited*) (“Changdongshun”) owned by 1t A BLLEEIRE
Z#HEMR AT (Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy Investment
Consulting Co., Ltd *) (the “Intermediate Holding Company”)
through holding the equity interests in the Intermediate
Holding Company. At the time of acquisition of equity interests
in Changdongshun, the Group believes that the acquisition
of Changdongshun will provide a good opportunity for the
Group to participate in the natural gas industry in China.
However, since the completion of acquisition in December
2011, the operating results and management performance
of Changdongshun and its subsidiaries (the “Changdongshun
Group”) failed to meet our expectations. In light of various
factors, on 20 March 2013, the Group entered into a sale
and purchase agreement to dispose of 49% equity interests
in the Intermediate Holding Company in order to recover
the investment costs soonest possible so that the Group’s
financial and management resources could be allocated to
other existing businesses and other potential acquisition
opportunities. Although the directors of the Company are
disappointed with the investment in the Changdongshun
Group, the Group believes that the investment in the
Changdongshun Group not meeting the expectations is just
an individual case. The Group will continue to seek and invest
in the promising natural gas projects, due to favorable factors
in China’s natural gas industry, including but not limited to
measures adopted by the Chinese government for reducing
environmental pollution and improving energy utilisation
efficiency.

PROSPECTS

The Group will continue to reposition and optimize the
investment allocation of the real estate and natural gas
businesses in accordance with the established development
strategies.

RZZ——F+-F  AEERBIL AT ELELE
KRELBERRA ([FEZERAR)) HETE
ZRAFETIERERIBRARBR AR ([ER
&1 49%# s - RERIBWERIE 2 K&
EREERIBEBEEE AR EERHZHSE
FREZAARITE - AN B-F——F+ A
WHETER A - ERIBREMERR] ([ERIES
B]) CEEENCETERBIRFTEITELS - 48
BER AEER_T-=F=A_THEEE
BEBRBDEREERARO%ER - ATREK
EHE B RS - GRS B B 75 B IR BRI B AR
SEEMRAXGRAMBEENRERSE L -
BEARAEFTHNRERIBEEB 2R EREE
B BRBERARITEZMEFRE - BEETR
AR BB BREURL A 3R 305 R M EE = BE IR 1 A 2R
Emfane  ERAKERERERIBEEZRE
REBHRABERBER  AEBSEEYERIKR
BERATRAEANKARIEAR -

AREE

AREBRBEIENBERRE - SREMEHMNE
EHEXEBNRAREENRERLE -



Real Estate Business

Through leveraging on the management’s investment
experience in real estate industry for many years and grasping
opportunities in the real estate markets in specific regions in
China, the Group will also choose to invest in certain real
estate projects with controllable risks and stable earnings
in the future. Both the Group and the management team
are confident in smoothly operating the investment projects
selected in the future and endeavour to provide reliable and
satisfactory returns for our Shareholders.

Natural Gas Business

The natural gas is a kind of low-carbon energy with high-
quality, efficient and clean features, and it will gradually
become an important part of the clean fuel and energy
market in China, together with a series of current favorable
policies issued by the Chinese government, offering a huge
space for the sustainable development of gas utilisation
projects and demonstrating a promising market. The Group
will capture this good opportunity to focus on and give priority
to developing the natural gas business with higher value-
added (including natural gas for vehicles and vessels, LNG
plants, industrial parks, commercial gas supply business,
etc.) while ensuring to keep orderly development of its
existing businesses. The Group is also actively identifying
and selecting suitable projects of the said types and seeking
investment opportunities in line with the development
direction in the domestic gas utilisation sector, so as to
promote the large-scale and efficient development of the gas
utilisation business, thereby providing satisfactory returns
for our Shareholders.

Ye De Chao
Chairman

28 March 2014

*  For identification purpose only
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
PRC Projects

Properties development and investment

Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited

The principal assets of Forward Investment (PRC) Company
Limited (“Forward Investment”) is the 100% equity interests
in EREMEREEHBRAF (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property
Company Limited*) (“Nanjing Taihe Yingke”), which main asset
is a complex development project (the Uiangning Project”)
located in Jiangning Development Zone, Nanjing, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC. The Jiangning Project is designed as a
composite complex comprising two towers of commercial
space and service apartments. A six-storey tower with a
planned gross floor area of 39,241.48 square metres is
planned to house the commercial space, and an 18-storey
tower with a planned gross floor area of 20,882.52 square
metres is planned to house the service apartments. The
total planned gross floor area of the Jiangning Project is
approximately 74,642.00 square metres which includes a
basement of approximately 14,518.00 square metres, and
land use rights of approximately 20,050.90 square metres.

Up to the date of this report, both the construction progress
and the pre-sale of commercial building and the service
apartment building developed by Nanjing Taihe Yingke at
Jiangning District of Nanjing performed well and in line
with the expectation. Approximately 1,600 square meters
of the gross floor area of the commercial building have
been pre-sold with average selling price of approximately
RMB37,100 per square meters. Approximately 330 service
apartment units with approximately 17,500 square meters of
the gross floor area have been pre-sold with average selling
price of approximately RMB12,100 per square meters. The
Jiangning Project is still undergoing the installation of the
superstructure. The construction of the service apartment
building is expected to be completed in the first half of 2014,
while the commercial building is expected to be completed
in 2015.

EGOEERE
REEH
WEBRRRE

FARE (PH) ERAA

FFIEE (FE) BERAR ([RMEE]) 2E 8
BEARMERENBHMEXARAR ([EREMNA
BH) Z2100%k 4 - MEARENARZETEEE
AI=ER  JIEHBRVRTBIAHER L
BERBESEAEREE (MIEEE]) - I%E
BE 2R RBEMERERRBEATAEEK
REBRERIEE - HEIREEERI,241.48F
KZANEaRERIERXRAR  MREBEEE
#20,882.52F ok 218 m NERIBIERRE A
B IHIER CRMREEEMMBEN A74,642.00
K BIEA14,518.00F F K2 E - AR
#720,050.90F 75 K 2 L b FR#E -

HIEAGRERN mRENBMAECNER
IEENEXEFERBEAETIREEURTE
EBRHARTUFTATELR  BEEFEEED
1,600 F ARz BEEE - FTHEBEETHK
#937, 100 AR¥ » REABEMN D TEEL330E
—H#H17,500F K2 BEEE - FTHEEES
FHKE12,100ARE « ITHIBE NAEETLEE
HEEZE REABTEFEHAR-_ZT—NOFL¥
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Pursuant to the subscription agreement, this investment
will provide the annual return undertaking of not less than
12% of the consideration which can generate stable revenue
streams and cash surplus for the Group. On 15 May 20183,
the guarantors of the subscription agreement had fulfilled
their obligations regarding the return undertaking and
compensated the shortfall of the profit guarantee for the
year ended 31 December 2012, being approximately HK$2.07
million, to the Group. For the year ended 31 December 2013,
Forward Investment suffered a loss and therefore would not
be able to pay any dividends to its shareholders. As such,
the guarantors shall compensate the shortfall of the profit
guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2013, being HK$36
million, to the Group on or before 15 May 2014.

Infrastructure
Freh F R AR 2 & (Xinan Zhongjing Gas Company Limited*)

Xinan Zhongjing Gas Company Limited (“Xinan Zhongjing”)
is engaged in the operation of natural gas supply network in
FZEFEEFE (Xinan Industrial Consolidation Park*), Xinan
County, Luoyang City, Henan Province, the PRC.

The first phase of pipeline construction was completed in
June 2012 and ventilation test was successfully completed
in October 2012. Xinan Zhongjing is required to obtain a gas
operating license in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations, before it can formally commence operation.

As of the date of this report, the license application is still
under process but the relevant authorities have not yet
given a timetable for approval of the gas operating license
as the application involves several different governmental
departments and the schedule of these governmental
departments are uncertain. As such, the management of
Xinan Zhongjing has tried to approach some other natural
gas companies for strategic cooperation opportunities. In
the Xinan Zhongjing management’s point of view, with the
assistance of the strategic partners, it can facilitate the gas
operating license application process. The management of
Xinan Zhongjing is under negotiation with some potential
strategic partners but no binding agreement is closed as at
the date of this report.

THEBHWRSH
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IR E FNEM R AR 2 7] (Beijing Changdongshun Gas Limited*)

In December 2011, the Group acquired 49% equity interests
in Beijing Changdongshun Gas Limited (“Changdongshun”)
owned by It RHELEEIRE EMWAR A A (Beijing Zhonggang
Green Energy Investment Consulting Co., Ltd.*) (the
“Intermediate Holding Company”) through holding the equity
interests in the Intermediate Holding Company. At the time
of acquisition of equity interests in Changdongshun, the
Group believed that the acquisition of Changdongshun would
provide a good opportunity for the Group to participate in the
natural gas industry in China. However, since the completion
of acquisition in December 2011, the operating results
and management performance of Changdongshun and its
subsidiaries (the “Changdongshun Group”) failed to meet the
Directors’ expectations. A disposal agreement dated 20 March
2013 in relation to the disposal of 49% equity interests in
the Intermediate Holding Company and the cancellation of
the option to acquire the remaining 51% effective interest in
the Intermediate Holding Company was entered into by the
Company and the purchasers for an aggregate consideration
of HK$315.0 million (the “Changdongshun Disposal”). The
reasons for the Changdongshun Disposal were mainly due to
the performance of the management of the Changdongshun
Group has failed to meet the expectations of the Directors,
in particular, in respect of provision of financial information
to the Company. A circular of the Company setting out the
details of the Changdongshun Disposal was published on 26
June 2013. As additional time is required by the purchasers
to fulfill certain conditions, the Company and the purchasers
entered into a supplemental agreement dated 15 January
2014 to extend the long stop date for the satisfaction of the
conditions and the date of completion to 30 September 2014.
As at the date of this report, the Changdongshun Disposal is
not completed.
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Hong Kong Project

Ten residential properties at Las Pinadas, Clear Water Bay
Road, Sai Kung, New Territories

InJune 2011, the Group acquired ten residential properties,
namely E2, ES, E4, E5, EB,E7, E8,E9,E10 and E15, located at
Las Pinadas, Clear Water Bay Road, Sai Kung, New Territories
(the “Properties”). The Properties are luxurious houses with
gross floor area ranging from approximately 2,800 to 3,200
square feet (including private garden). The Properties are
used by the Group for investment purposes.

The Board considered that the investment in the Properties
could not reach the Company’s expectations on its investment
return rate and income. Therefore, on 9 August 2013, the
Company announced that it had resolved to dispose of the
entire issued share capital of Steady Foundation, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the owner of
the Properties, by way of public tender. The public tender
closed on 25 September 2013 and two bids were received by
the Company’s solicitor by then. The Company accepted the
tender which offered the highest aggregate consideration of
the Sale Share and the Shareholder’s Loan on 27 September
2013. On 9 October 2013, the Company and the purchaser,
an independent third party, entered into the agreement,
pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to
sell, and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase,
the Sale Share and the Shareholder’s Loan at an aggregate
consideration of HK$240,888,888, subject to adjustment (the
“Steady Foundation Disposal”). A circular of the Company
setting out the details of the Steady Foundation Disposal was
published on 25 November 2013.

The Steady Foundation Disposal was completed on 23
December 2013. The fair value of the Properties decreased
by HK$51,000,000 during the year 2013. The gain on disposal
of the above transaction was approximately HK$4,338,000.
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Outlook

The management will continue to look for investment
opportunities in relation to the city infrastructure projects
in relation to real estate business and natural gas projects
in the PRC so as to expand the development portfolio of the
Group in the future. In this regard, investment opportunities
which offer satisfactory returns to the Shareholders within
the acceptable risk profile of the Group and expected return
will be considered. As a result, the Group will strive to
identify suitable projects with potential for development and
satisfactory returns across various sectors in the PRC market.

HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 December 2013, the Group had a total of approximately
12 staff in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group remunerates
employees based on their performance, experience and
prevailing industry practices so as to retain the competent
and talented employees. The Company has a share option
scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to the eligible persons including the employees of the
Company for their contributions to the long term success
and prosperity of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Results

The turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2013 was approximately HK$6,683,000, as compared with
approximately HK$13,617,000 for the year ended 31 December
2012.The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2013 increased to approximately
HK$85,148,000 as compared with the loss attributable to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$15,414,000
for the year ended 31 December 2012. This was mainly due
to a fair value loss on the investment properties amounting
to approximately HK$51,000,000 for the year ended 31
December 2013 as compared with the fair value gain on
the investment properties amounting to approximately
HK$36,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2012.
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Capital Structure

The capital structure of the Group consisted of debt (which
included borrowings and convertible notes), cash and bank
balances, loan receivables, and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves
of the Group.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group monitors its liquidity requirements on a short to
medium term basis and arranges refinancing of the Group’s
borrowings when appropriate. At 31 December 2013, the
underlying current ratio, defined as current assets over
current liabilities, was approximately 52.33 (2012: 0.51). At
31 December 2013, the underlying gearing ratio, defined
as the total borrowings over total equity (including non-
controlling interests), was approximately 0% (2012: 12%)
while the current liabilities to the total assets ratio was
approximately 1% (2012: 11%).

At 31 December 2013, the Group’s equity attributable to
owners of the Company was approximately HK$898,731,000,
a decrease of approximately 7.31% over last year end which
was approximately HK$969,622,000. The net current assets
at 31 December 2013 was approximately HK$489,204,000
(2012: Net current liabilities: HK$63,471,000) while cash
and bank balances at 31 December 2013 was approximately
HK$122,566,000 (2012: HK$25,009,000).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2018.

Charge on Assets

At 31 December 2013, none of the assets of the Group
were pledged. At 31 December 2012, assets of the Group
amounting to approximately HK$288,000,000 were pledged
for the Group’s borrowings.
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Foreign Currencies

During the year, most of the business transactions, assets
and liabilities of the Group were denominated in Hong Kong
Dollars, Renminbi and United Stated Dollars. The Group had
no material foreign exchange exposure risks during the year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to propose any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: nil).
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Corporate Governance Report

The board of directors (the “Board”) and the Management of
the Company are committed to the principles of corporate
governance and to maximise shareholders’ value. These
principles and objectives enhance the transparency,
accountability and independence of the Company and
its ability to attract investment and protect rights of
shareholders. The Company continues to review the
effectiveness of corporate structure so as to improve its
corporate governance practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company has adopted its own code on corporate
governance practices which incorporates all the code
provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”). The Directors confirm that, throughout the
financial year, the Company complied with the code provisions
of the CG Code except for the following deviations:

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
officer should be clearly established and set out in writing.
On 18 January 2013, Mr. Zhu Hai Hua was redesignated as
the Vice Chairman of the Company and on the same date, Mr.
Ye De Chao, the Chief Executive Officer, assumed the role of
Acting Chairman of the Company. On 28 February 2013, Mr.
Ye De Chao was appointed as the Chairman of the Company.
The Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group
and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board believes that the balance of
power and authority for the present arrangement will not be
impaired and is adequately ensured by current Board which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with
sufficient number thereof being independent non-executive
Directors.
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Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. The term of office for non-executive
Directors including independent non-executive Directors of
the Company is not specific. It is provided in the Company’s
articles of association that all the Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years at the
annual general meetings of the Company and are eligible
for re-appointment. The Directors are of the view that such
provision in the Company’s articles of association has been
able to safeguard corporate governance.

Code provision A.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
nomination committee should be chaired by the chairman of
the board or an independent non-executive director. During
the period from 1 August 2012 to 27 February 2013, the
Nomination Committee of the Company was chaired by Mr. Ye
De Chao, the then Vice Chairman of the Company. Mr. Ye De
Chao has been appointed as the Chairman of the Company
with effect from 28 February 2013 and at the same time
Mr. Ye continues to assume the role of the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee.

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code stipulates that
independent non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. Mr. He Jin Geng and Mr. Yu Hong Gao, the
independent non-executive Directors of the Company, were
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 7 June 2013 and the extraordinary general meetings
of the Company held on 15 July 2013, 10 December 2013 and
17 February 2014 as they had other engagements in China.

Code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the
chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting of the Company. He should also invite the chairman
of the audit, remuneration, nomination and any other
committees (as appropriate) to attend. Mr. He Jin Geng, the
chairman of the Audit Committee, and Mr. Yu Hong Gao, the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, did not attend the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 7 June 2013
as they had other engagements in China.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct governing
directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the required standard set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
throughout the financial year. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the
Company’s code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Each Director has a duty to act in good faith and in the best
interests of the Company and is accountable for the manner
in which the affairs of the Company are managed, controlled
and operated. The Directors are collectively responsible for
the success of the Company. The Board, as at 31 December
2013, comprised:

(a) six executive Directors, namely Mr.Ye De Chao (Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Zhu Hai Hua (Vice
Chairman), Mr. Zhou Guo Chang, Mr. Ji Xu Dong, Mr. Xu
Xiao Jun and Ms. Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza; and

(b) threeindependent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
He Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Mr. Yuen Hon Ming,
Edwin and one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting and related financial
expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

On 13 January 2014, Mr. Zhou Guo Chang has resigned as the
executive Director of the Company.

The Company considers that the Board has a range of the
necessary skills and experiences for discharging their duties.
All Directors have been kept informed of major changes on a
timely basis that may affect the Company’s business.
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INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL
ADVICE

The Directors may, in appropriate circumstances, take
independent professional advice from external consultants
including counsels, at the Company’s expense. During the year
under review, counsels were engaged to provide the Board
with advice on legal matters.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to formulate the objectives
of the Company, make decisions on strategic plans and
budgets, monitor the performance of the Senior Management,
determine and review the strategy of the Company, oversee
the Company’s compliance with statutory and regulatory
requirement and to ensure that there is a sound system
of internal control and risk management with a goal of
protecting the interests of all shareholders.

Sufficient notices accompanying with agendas for regular
and non-regular board meetings were given to all of the
Directors so that full attendance could be attained and timely
information was provided so that informed decisions could be
made. The Board conducts meeting on a regular and ad hoc
basis, as required by business needs.
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The Board held totally 19 board meetings during the financial
year and the attendance of individual director is recorded as

follows:

Attendance Record of Board Meetings
(1 January 2013 - 31 December 2013)
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RABREER  EFSGHBTIOREZEE
& MEREFZHFERENT :

EXZEgeBCLRTH (ZF—=F—-HA—H%
—E-=F+=-A=+—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HER
Number of board meetings ESEERNH 19
Directors B
Executive Directors HITEE
YE De Chao EXbyed
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) (F/EFTHABEZ) 19/19 100%
ZHU Hai Hua (Vice Chairman) KBE (F/F/F) 8/19 42%
ZHOU Guo Chang ISEIE
(resigned on 13 January 2014) (RZF—pF—H+=HEHE) 3/19 16%
JI' Xu Dong EE 8/19 42%
XU Xiao Jun fR/ME 12/19 63%
LEE Siu Yuk, Eliza FEE 19/19 100%
Independent Non-executive Directors BB ITESE
HE Jin Geng fa] & BX 5/19 26%
YU Hong Gao B4lm 4/19 21%
YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin RS 7/19 37%

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance
to indemnify its Directors for their liabilities arising out
of performance of their duties. The insurance coverage is

reviewed on an annual basis.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules, the Company has appointed at least three independent
non-executive directors and one of whom must have
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. As at 31 December
2013, the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company (the “INEDs”) represented at least one-third of the
Board in compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Board is aware of other commitments of the INEDs and
is satisfied that these do not conflict with their duties as
the Directors of the Company. The Company has received
from each of the INEDs an annual confirmation of his
independence as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. Based on these confirmations, the Company considers
that each of the INEDs is independent.

The terms and conditions of appointing the INEDs are
available for inspection at the Company’s registered office.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with an induction
package covering the Group’s business and the statutory
regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company so
as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of
the business and operation of the Group and that he/she is
fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and the relevant regulatory requirements.
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Code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code requires that all Directors PESTRANENABSIEIRTE - NATIIEEEESR
of the Company should participate in continuous professional B EE IR - REIWF FEMG LI - A
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and MREEEFEHEIIERARLRIDEMENERLT
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board HeEFel/EHaR - RREEERN AR FAE
remains informed and relevant. During the year under review, EECRHEBEEERRERRE - WRAQRIRHE
all Directors of the Company participated in continuous WEPTE IS0 8% o

professional development programmes and provided a record

of training they received to the Company.

The individual training record of each Director for the year REE_ZT—=F+_A=+—HILFE &=
ended 31 December 2013 is set out below. ETEEINMLEESBEINT o

Types of continuous professional
development programmes

BESERRREER
Executive Directors HiTEE
YE De Chao iR B
ZHU Hai Hua RGE B
ZHOU Guo Chang B & B
JI Xu Dong ESIEES B
XU Xiao Jun N B
LEE Siu Yuk, Eliza FXE A
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFHITEE
HE Jin Geng fa] & Bk B
YU Hong Gao B4T= B
YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin RZER B
A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums A HEBEESiwme kSR E

B:  reading journals, newsletter, seminar materials and updates B: BEAMLTRA HEREEREREFR

relating to the latest development of the Listing Rules, other BRAFEZEFIERART] - @ AR
applicable regulatory requirements and directors’ duties and HAEE 3T AR}

responsibilities
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. The
division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive officer should be clearly established and set out
inwriting.

From 1 January 2013 to 17 January 2013, Mr. Zhu Hai Hua
was the Chairman of the Company while Mr. Ye De Chao was
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and thus, the role
and function of the chairman and chief executive officer was
separate during that period. On 18 January 2013, Mr. Zhu Hai
Hua was redesignated as the Vice Chairman of the Company
and on the same date, Mr. Ye De Chao, the Chief Executive
Officer, assumed the role of Acting Chairman of the Company.
On 28 February 2013, Mr. Ye De Chao was appointed as the
Chairman of the Company. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in
the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and
efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board
believes that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately
ensured by current Board which comprises experienced and
high calibre individuals with sufficient number thereof being
independent non-executive Directors.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board, headed by the Chairman, reserves for its decision
all major matters of the Company, including: approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and
budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and operational
matters. The Board regularly reviews and ensures that
corporate governance principles are in place and at good
standard.
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The daily management, administration and operation of
the Group are delegated to the senior management. The
delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically
reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from the
Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by
the management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established internal committees which are of
no less compliance requirements than those set out in the CG
Code of the Listing Rules, namely, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee, Audit Committee and Corporate
Governance Committee. To further reinforce independence,
these four committees are structured to include a majority
of independent non-executive Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2013, the Remuneration Committee was
chaired by Mr. Yu Hong Gao, an independent non-executive
Director with other committee members comprising two
other independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. He
Jin Geng and Mr. Yuen Hon Ming, Edwin and one executive
Director, namely Mr.Ye De Chao. The Remuneration Committee
comprises a majority of independent non-executive Directors
that brings an independent and objective view to the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and Senior
Management of the Company to provide a significant degree
of protection to the shareholders. No director involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the financial year, the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the remuneration packages of the Directors and
the Senior Management, including discretionary bonus, which
were based on individual performance, skill and knowledge,
involvement in the Group’s affairs and performance and
profitability of the Group.
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The Remuneration Committee determines the specific
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
Senior Management, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments; and makes recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors.
The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are
described in the terms of reference adopted. Details of the
remunerations of the Directors are shown on pages 112 to
114 of this annual report. The Remuneration Committee had
met once during the financial year and the attendance of
individual member is recorded as below.

Attendance Record of Remuneration Committee Meeting
(1 January 2013 — 31 December 2013)

FNEESETERNTESRSREEENR
EHMEFS (REFSENE - RKSEMNRE
BEE) UERHERTESNTFHRESTSR
HiEZ - FNZES 2 ETEHNAIRN 2 B#E
HEN BEFHFMABHIRNANFREI12E114
B-FHNEEEeRAMBEFEEANRITT —XE
& BRI E 2 R sk # N T -

FMEESEER HELER (CE—=F—A—
RE-Z2-=%+-"A=+t—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HE=E
Number of remuneration committee meeting FMEEEEEAY 1
Members HE
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHTEE
YU Hong Gao (Chairman) W= (FE) 1/1 100%
HE Jin Geng fal & Bk 11 100%
YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin REH 1/1 100%
Executive Director HITEE
YE De Chao EG 11 100%
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2013, the members of the Nomination
Committee included three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. He Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Mr.
Yuen Hon Ming, Edwin with Mr. Ye De Chao, an executive
Director, as the Committee Chairman.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board for its approval on the
appointment of the Directors, evaluation of board composition
and the management of board succession with reference to
certain guidelines as endorsed by the Nomination Committee.
These guidelines take account of appropriate industry
experience, professional ethics and knowledge, personal
skills and time commitments of members.

The Nomination Committee carries out the process of
selecting and recommending candidates for directorship
including the consideration of referrals and engagement
of external recruitment professionals when necessary. The
Chairman of the Nomination Committee, in consultation
with the person responsible for human resources and the
secretary of the Nomination Committee, should be primarily
responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for
each Nomination Committee meeting. Potential candidates
are then considered at the Nomination Committee meetings
based on their experience, professional qualifications and
their expected remuneration packages. The Nomination
Committee held one meeting during the financial year and
the attendance of individual member is recorded as below.
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Attendance Record of Nomination Committee Meetings
(1 January 2013 — 31 December 2013)

REZEEERIHELE (CE—=F—A—
RE-Z2-=%+-"A=+t—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HE=E
Number of nomination committee meetings REZESEENRY 1
Members HE
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHBTEE
HE Jin Geng fa] & BX 1/1 100%
YU Hong Gao Bam 1/1 100%
YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin RER 1/1 100%
Executive Director HITEE
YE De Chao (Chairman) X (FE) il 100%

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee reviews the Company’s financial
reports, internal controls and corporate governance
issues, appointment of external auditors and review their
independency and makes relevant recommendations to
the Board. The written terms of reference which describes
the authority and duties of the Audit Committee has been
prepared and adopted with reference to “A Guide for The
Formation of An Audit Committee” and “A Guide for Effective
Audit Committee” published by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, and amended in accordance
with the CG Code.
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As at 31 December 2013, all the committee members
were independent non-executive Directors and one of
whom possesses appropriate professional qualifications,
accounting or related financial management expertise.
The Chairman of the Audit Committee, Mr. He Jin Geng,
is a qualified accountant and has the relevant financial
experience. Other members were Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Mr.
Yuen Hon Ming, Edwin. None of the Audit Committee members
were members of the former or existing auditors of the
Company.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the financial
year and the attendance of individual member is recorded as
below. During the meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group,
the interim and annual reports of the Group and discussed
with the external auditors on auditing, internal control and
financial reporting matters.

Attendance Record of Audit Committee Meetings
(1 January 2013 — 31 December 2013)

ERELIRE

R-F—=F+-_A=+t—H MiIBZEEKE
VRBMIFRTES  EP(VEBEEERE
% B RIABTBE R EXAH - EREE
SEXFEMSKEERBERGTER AEAERM
Bk - R B DRI REMI R L RFIZERAL
£ WERBZZBENE RARAAERR T
ZIAD

BERZBENAVRFEANRITTMASE - &
FRBZHELCHEN T - 8L BEZEES
EEMAKERMRAZ G RANRERURARE
Bz HRE RFR - SRR E T
% NREEMTBREEE °

EREEEERIHERE (ZE—=F—A—
REZ-Z-=%+-"A=+t—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
R HfE &R
Number of audit committee meetings ERZEEERRY 2
Members Vo4
Independent Non-executive Directors BN TEF
HE Jin Geng (Chairman) ek (£/2) 2/2 100%
YU Hong Gao B 2/2 100%
YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin £ 2/2 100%
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2013, the Corporate Governance
Committee consisted of four members, namely Mr. He Jin
Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Mr. Yuen Hon Ming, Edwin, all
being independent non-executive Directors and Ms. Lee Siu
Yuk, Eliza, being an executive Director. Ms. Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza
was the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee.

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for,
including but not limited to, developing and reviewing the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance
and making recommendations to the Board, reviewing
and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and Senior Management of the
Company, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, developing, reviewing and monitoring the code
of conduct applicable to the employees and the Directors of
the Company, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.
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The Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee should
be primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each Corporate Governance Committee meeting
and ensure that all members of the Corporate Governance
Committee should have sufficient information in a timely
manner to enable effective discussion at the Corporate
Governance Committee meeting. The Chairman should
also brief all members on issues arising at each Corporate
Governance Committee meeting. The Corporate Governance
Committee held one meeting during the financial year and the
attendance of individual member is recorded as below. During
the meeting, the Corporate Governance Committee reviewed
the training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and Senior Management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report of
this annual report.

Attendance Record of Corporate Governance Committee
Meetings (1 January 2013 — 31 December 2013)

ERELIRE

HEERERE \@Ifﬁﬁigf1£5++?%ﬁ&$tt/ﬁl
REHEERZESSBZNARELBRIIAEKE R
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gL PEEREECERIESTRSREEE
HFIIRSEEEER AAREETEERE
ERTHANBEREEH - UERAAREEFE
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B EE -

TEEREERGECHERE (ZE—=F—
B—RBZE=ZZ—=%+ZHA=+—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
HE R HEE
Number of corporate governance committee meetings GT¥EREZEESSHNY 1
Members o7
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHNTEE
HE Jin Geng & Bk 11 100%
YU Hong Gao Bam 1/1 100%
YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin REMR 1M 100%
Executive Director HiTEE
LEE Siu Yuk, Eliza (Chairman) BXE (FE) 11 100%
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the audit and non-
audit fees payable/paid to the external auditors of the Group
were made up of an audit fee of HK$1,150,000 and non-audit
service fees of HK$700,000 respectively.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors aim to present the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in accordance with the statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
Directors ensure the publication of consolidated financial
statements of the Group in a timely manner that the final and
interim results of the Group are announced within the three
months and two months limit respectively after the end of the
relevant periods prescribed under the Listing Rules.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2013 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee and audited by the external auditors, Elite
Partners CPA Limited.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and
presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment
of the Group’s performance and prospects. They are not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the ability of the Group
to continue as a going concern. The Statement of the Auditors
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditors’
Report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness in order to
safeguard the Group’s assets and shareholders’interests. The
Board will conduct regular review regarding internal control
systems of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Audit Committee
reviewed and discussed with the senior management on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
systems including financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management. The Audit Committee further
made recommendations to the Board to ensure reliability of
financial reporting and compliance with applicable statutory
accounting and reporting requirements, legal and regulatory
requirements, internal rules and procedures approved by
the Board, to identify and manage potential risks of the
Group. Besides, the Audit Committee and the Board also
will perform regular review on the Group’s performance and
internal control system in order to ensure effective measures
are in place to protect material assets and identify business
risks of the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

As at 31 December 2013, the company secretary of the
Company, Mr. Chan Kim Sun, fulfills the requirement under
Rules 3.28 and 3.29 of the Listing Rules. Mr. Chan is a full
time employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge
of the Company. During the year ended 31 December 20183,
Mr. Chan has duly complied with the relevant professional
training requirement and he has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training to update his skills and
knowledge.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

In accordance with Article 57 of the articles of association
of the Company, an extraordinary general meeting shall
be convened on the written requisition of any 2 or more
members holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
in aggregate not less than 25 per cent of such of the paid up
capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the
office. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of
the deposit of such requisition proceed duly to convene an
extraordinary general meeting, the requisitionists themselves
may convene the extraordinary general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may
be convened by the Directors, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the failure of the
Directors to convene such a meeting shall be reimbursed to
them by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Any Shareholders’
Enquiries or Proposals to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries or
proposals to the Board/Company Secretary by email:
hkoffice@china-infrastructure.com, by fax: (852) 2698 8188,
or by mail to Suite 1205, 12th Floor, Tower 6, The Gateway, 9
Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of
promoting corporate transparency and communications
with the shareholders, potential investors and investment
community through its mandatory interim and final
reports. The Senior Management responsible for investor
relations holds meetings with press reporters and potential
strategic investors to keep them abreast of the Company’s
development.

During the year under review, there were no changes in
the articles of association of the Company (“Articles
of Association”). An up to date version of the Articles of
Association is available on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website. The shareholders may refer to the
Articles of Association for further details of their rights.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications
with all shareholders so that they can exercise their rights
as shareholders in an informed basis. Besides regular
distribution of financial reports, the Company has a
corporate website to foster effective communications with
the shareholders. It is maintained to disseminate Company’s
announcements and presentations, shareholders’ information
and other relevant financial and non-financial information on
a timely basis.

Another dialogue with shareholders is the Company’s general
meetings which provide a useful forum for shareholders
to exchange their views with the Board. The Company
shall provide shareholders with relevant information
on the resolution(s) proposed at a general meeting in a
timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules. The
information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable
shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged to participate in
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote
at the meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to
attend the meetings.
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RAFBREFREAR » ARRHBIT=ZRRRRE
MERIE Sz HFRREEIT -

The Company held totally three general meetings during the
financial year and the attendance of individual director is
recorded as follows:

Attendance Record of General Meetings
(1 January 2013 — 31 December 2013)

BAAEZHERS (CB—=F—A—HE=
B-=F+-A=1—A)

Annual  Extraordinary  Extraordinary

General General General
Meeting Meeting Meeting
held on held on held on
7 June 15 July 10 December
2013 2013 2013
R-ZB—=F R-ZZ—=F R=-T-—=F
~AtH +tB+EHH +=A+H
BITHRR BITHRE BOTARR
BERE HRIRE BRIRE
Executive Directors HiTEE
YE De Chao
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) LBl (LERTHER) v/ - -
ZHU Hai Hua (Vice Chairman) KBE (5+) - - -
ZHOU Guo Chang [AEE - - -
JIXu Dong £S5 - - -
XU Xiao Jun B - - -
LEE Siu Yuk, Eliza e / v v
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHTEE
HE Jin Geng A& ak - - -
YU Hong Gao Bim - - -
YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin REHR v/ v /
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YE De Chao, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, aged
53, joined the Group as an Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on 17 January 2012. Mr. Ye
was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Company since
1 August 2012 and was then redesignated as the Acting
Chairman of the Company on 18 January 2013. Mr. Ye has been
appointed as the Chairman of the Company on 28 February
2013. Mr. Ye is also the chairman of B REMARIBEER A
7] (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*) which is
an associated company of the Company, and the chairman of
EREFREEREER AT (Nanjing Wanlilai Real Estate
Development Company Limited*). Mr. Ye has over 20 years of
experiences in business operation and management. Mr. Ye
was an electric engineer of A A RIEABIHEE L /G EEK
PREREED BEHEMTE (Electric Technology Department,
Nanjing Railway Sub-administration, Shanghai Railway
Bureau, The Ministry of Railways of The People’s Republic
of China*). He obtained an undergraduate diploma from
Southeast University in July 1992 and an EMBA from Cheung
Kong Graduate School of Business, which is located in Beijing,
the People’s Republic of China, in September 2011. Mr.Ye is a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. ZHU Hai Hua, Vice Chairman, aged 48, has joined the
Group as an Executive Director and Vice Chairman on 10
January 2012. Mr. Zhu was redesignated to the Chairman of
the Company since 1 August 2012 and was then redesignated
to the Vice Chairman of the Company since 18 January 2013.
Mr. Zhu graduated from Northeastern University in 1989
with a Bachelor’s Degree. Mr. Zhu was the chairman of 5
IRFEAE B R AR] (Wuxi Yuangi Commercial Trading Company
Limited*) in 2003, the chairman of BEEM AMEIBIREFR
‘A 7A] (Baotou Dadi Jinhui Aluminum Company Limited*) in
2010 and general manager of JLEREEE 2B R A F] (Jiangsu
Yuanqi Property Company Limited*) in 2011.
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EEREREERRE

Ms. LEE Siu Yuk, Eliza, aged 53, has over 20 years of
experience in business operation, investment, marketing
and project management. Ms. Lee holds a Master Degree of
Business Administration from Murdoch University, Australia.
Ms. Lee is responsible for the implementation of corporate
policy, business development plans, administration, the
management of daily operation, marketing functions and
general affairs of the Group. She joined the Group in 2004.
Ms. Lee is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. JI Xu Dong, aged 49, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 2 August 2012. Mr. Ji has studied
the course in International Trade at Nanjing University. Mr.
Ji has also attended the International Financial Investment
Programme of Shanghai Jiao Tong University. Mr. Ji is the
director and general manager of R ML 2 RMmEEBR A
7] (Nanjing Vegetable and Non-staple Food Group Company
Limited*). He previously served as vice general manager of &
R R REBLAR] (Nanjing Vegetable and Non-staple
Food Group*). Mr. Ji has obtained the independent director
authentication from the Shanghai National Accounting
Institute. Mr. Ji is a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. XU Xiao Jun, aged 35, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 2 August 2012. Mr. Xu is the
executive deputy general manager and legal representative
of MREMARIBEAEGR AR (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property
Company Limited*). Mr. Xu served as the deputy general
manager and the director of the office of F & & F 2k = HE
FEER 2 A (Nanjing Wanlilai Real Estate Development
Company Limited*) during the periods from 2002 to 2009 and
from 2000 to 2002 respectively. Save as being a colleague of
Mr. Ye De Chao, an executive Director, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company at MREMAR EEAR
28] (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*) and
formerly at EREMKRFHERZEFR AR (Nanjing Wanlilai
Real Estate Development Company Limited*), Mr. Xu is not
connected with any other directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr.
Xu is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management

Save as disclosed above, no executive Directors of the
Company have held any other directorships in listed public
companies in the last three years and none of them are
connected with any other directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the
Company and any executive Director. There is no specific
term in respect of their respective appointment, but
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years at the annual general meetings of the Company. Ms.
Lee is entitled to a salary of HK$200,000 per month. The
executive Directors are not entitled to director’s fee but
will be entitled to discretionary bonus to be decided by the
Board based on their contributions, the Company’s annual
business performance and the recommendation given by the
Remuneration Committee of the Board. Details of directors’
remuneration in 2013 are set out in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. HE Jin Geng, aged 44, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 1
August 2012. Mr. He holds a Doctorate Degree in Politics
and Economics from Nanjing University. Mr. He currently
serves as the general manager of R EEEINEEE
BR8] (Nanjing South Hospital Medical Investment
Management Company Limited*). He previously served as
a director and president of I REZERHER AT (Nanjing
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd*) and as secretary of #T4& =F1%
7@ EZ (Youth League of Liuao District of Sanmen County
of Zhejiang Province*), and also served different posts in &
RHASRERMER AR (Nanjing Xin Gang High-Tech Co.,
Ltd*), including deputy director of the office, secretary of
the board of directors and deputy general manager. Mr. He
is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.
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Mr. YU Hong Gao, aged 51, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on
1 August 2012. Mr. Yu graduated from Nanjing University
of Science and Technology and holds a Doctorate Degree.
Mr. Yu currently serves as deputy general manager of the
Department of Entrusted Assets Management, general
manager of Asset Management Department and general
manager of Securities Investment Department of & 5
B HBR A R) (Huatai Securities Co., Ltd.*). He previously served
as deputy manager of the Investment Department of ;T #&k
B BES M ERIEE QR Jiangsu High-Tech Capital
Venture Co., Ltd. of the Department of Finance of Jiangsu
Province*), deputy head of F{ZRITE R AT 1T (Chengxi
Sub-branch of China Citic Bank Nanjing Branch*), deputy
general manager of Securities Investment Head Office and
general manager of Assets Management Head Office of {53
BHHABMRAE (Xin Tai Securities Co., Ltd.*).

Mr. YUEN Hon Ming, Edwin, aged 61, obtained his Bachelor
Degree of Arts (Hons) from the University of Hong Kong in
1976, attended the Certified Diploma in Accounting and
Finance (ACCA) course at Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
1978, completed a course in China Trade and Finance at the
Peking University in 1990 and obtained his Master Degree of
Laws from City University of Hong Kong in 2004. Mr. Yuen has
extensive banking and corporate finance experience and had
worked with international banks and local securities houses
such as First National City Bank, Hong Kong, Sun Hung Kai
Bank Limited, Far East Bank Limited, First Pacific Bancshares
Limited and FPB Asia Limited. He was an executive director of
Pearl Oriental Holdings Limited during the period from August
1993 to October 2001. He was a director of Sino Strategic
International Limited during the period from October 2005
to November 2007. He joined South China Finance and
Management Limited as the group treasury and business
controller in September 2007 and became the chief operating
officer during the period from March 2008 to December
2008. He joined Bingo Group Holdings Limited as a business
advisor in February 2009. Mr. Yuen also served as committee
member of Kwai Chung District Industrial and Commercial
Subcommittee of the Kwai Chung and Tsing Yi District Board
during the period from May 1986 to March 1987. Mr. Yuen
joined the Group in April 2011.
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Directors and Senior Management

Save as disclosed above, no independent non-executive
Director of the Company has held any other directorships in
listed public companies in the last three years or is otherwise
connected with any other directors, senior management or
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between
the Company and each of the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company. There is no specific term in respect
of their respective appointment, but subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years at the annual general
meetings of the Company. Mr. He, Mr. Yu and Mr. Yuen received
director’s fee of HK$120,000, HK$120,000 and HK$250,000,
respectively, in 2013.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHAN Kim Sun, aged 32, has been appointed as the
Company Secretary of the Company on 19 September 2012.
He is also the Financial Controller of the Company. He holds
a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration in Accounting
and Finance from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology. Mr. Chan has extensive working experience in
finance, accounting, company secretarial and compliance
areas and worked for international accounting firms and
listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

* The English translation of the Chinese name(s), where
indicated, is included for information purpose only, and should
not be regarded as the official English name(s) of such Chinese

name(s).
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The Directors submit herewith their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2013.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is primarily an investment holding company and
its investment portfolio includes (i) property investments; and
(ii) natural gas businesses.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers taken together
accounted for approximately 12% and 60% respectively of
the Group’s total turnover for the year.

The aggregate direct costs attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and five largest suppliers taken together accounted
for approximately 53% and 98% respectively of the Group’s
total direct costs for the year.

Save otherwise disclosed, at no time during the year have the
Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had any interest in these major
customers and suppliers.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five financial years is set out on page
194 of this annual report.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages
58 to 59 of this annual report.

The state of the Group’s and the Company’s affairs as at 31
December 20183 are set out in the consolidated statement
of financial position and statement of financial position on
pages 60 to 62 of this annual report.

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2013.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of significant changes in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note
13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION
OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during
the year ended 31 December 2013.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note
17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings as at 31 December 2013 are
set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are
set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance and has complied throughout the year
with the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except
for the deviation of code provisions A.2.1, A.4.1, A.5.1, A.6.7
and E.1.2.

Further information on the Company’s corporate governance

practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report of
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and at the date
of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Ye De Chao, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
(redesignated as Chairman on 28 February 2013)
(redesignated as Acting Chairman on 18 January 2013)

Mr. Zhu Hai Hua, Vice Chairman
(redesignated as Vice Chairman on 18 January 2013)

Mr. Ji Xu Dong

Mr. Xu Xiao Jun

Ms. Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza

Mr. Zhou Guo Chang
(resigned on 13 January 2014)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. He Jin Geng

Mr.Yu Hong Gao

Mr.Yuen Hon Ming, Edwin

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Ye De Chao, Mr. Xu Xiao Jun and Mr. Yuen Hon
Ming, Edwin shall retire from the Board at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election. Mr. Ye De Chao and Mr.
Xu Xiao Jun will offer themselves for re-election while Mr.
Yuen Hon Ming, Edwin has informed the Board that he will
not offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Yuen Hon
Ming, Edwin will retire upon the conclusion of the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

The term of office of each non-executive Director is the
period up to his retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Company’s articles of association.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had any existing or propose service
contract with the Company or any member of the Group
which is not expiring or terminable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2013, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”))
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQ),
to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (b) were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were
as follows:
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Long Position in the Ordinary Shares of HK$0.05
each (“Shares”) of the Company

Number of Shares held
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RAFERKREEGE T ZHE
) ¥R’

BRI (TR

% to the issued

BEZRHBEAE share capital of

the Company

Personal Corporate AR AF]

Name of Director Interests Interests Total BRITRAK

EEHA B ARz NGIEEE e B2 (%)

Mr. Ye De Chao - 1,189,290,512 1,189,290,512 27.85
HEEBEE (Note) (MI&E)

Mr. Ji Xu Dong 6,324,000 - 6,324,000 015

FER LA

Note: These Shares were held by Legendary Base International
Limited, a company which was wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De Chao.
Hence, he was deemed to have a beneficial interest in all these
Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, none of
the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associate corporation
(within the meaning of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including any interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 July
2008 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The purposes of the Share
Option Scheme are to enable the Group and its Invested
Entities (any entity in which any member of the Group holds
an equity interest) to recruit and retain high calibre Eligible
Persons and attract human resources that are valuable to the
Group or Invested Entities, to recognise the contributions of
the Eligible Persons to the growth of the Group or Invested
Entities by rewarding them with opportunities to obtain
ownership interest in the Company and to motivate and give
incentives to these Eligible Persons to continue to contribute
to the long term success and prosperity of the Group or
Invested Entities. Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the
Board may invite any Eligible Person including any director
and employee of the Company to take up options to subscribe
for shares of the Company. The Share Option Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of ten years. No share
options were outstanding nor granted during the year ended
31 December 20183.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2013, so far as is known to the Directors or
chief executive of the Company, the following persons (other
than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had
an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:
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Long Position in the Ordinary Shares HEERMZHER
% to the issued
share capital of
the Company
Number of w7
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares 2EITRA
REREE BEHH R4 88 B2 (%)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interests of controlled 1,355,050,512 31.73
(Note 1) corporation
hRESREBREERR (1) R EE kR
China Construction Bank Corporation Interests of controlled 1,355,050,512 31.73
(Note 2) corporation
hERRRITRO AR LA (FiF2) XL E R
Legendary Base International Limited Beneficial owner 1,189,290,512 27.85
(Note 3) (Mf7¥3) EnEBA
Expert Ever Limited Beneficial owner 426,990,000 10.00
(Note 4) (Mf7F4) EnEBA
Zhang Xiaojun (Note 4) Interests of controlled 426,990,000 10.00

sREE (MisEs)

corporation

GEE

RPEE R
Notes:
(1) China Construction Bank Corporation was owned as to 57.23% (1)

by Central Huijin Investment Ltd..

(2)  According to the disclosure of interest form filed by China (2)

Construction Bank Corporation, China Construction Bank

Corporation reported interests because Maple Reach Limited,

an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of China Construction

Bank Corporation, was reported to have direct interests in the

Shares. So far as the Company was aware of, Maple Reach

Limited was a person having a security interest in the Shares

under a share pledge.

(3)  Legendary Base International Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. (3)

Ye De Chao, a director of the Company.

(4)  Expert Ever Limited was wholly-owned by Zhang Xiaojun. (4)
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MERARZEE2EWB AR BEKRNHZE
R o BLARTFFTA - Maple Reach Limited
ARMOERIE T EERGOERERZ 2 AL -

Legendary Base International Limited BZAR

REREEBELEREHA -
Expert Ever LimitediREE 2 EHA °
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2013, no person
(other than Directors or chief executive of the Company) had
an interest or a short position in the Shares and underlying
Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management
of the Group are set out on pages 35 to 39 of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Except for the transactions as disclosed in notes 16 and
32 to the consolidated financial statements, no other
contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
company or subsidiaries was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited
(“Keen Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group), Mr.
Ye De Chao (the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, an
Executive Director and a substantial shareholder of the
Company), Modern Admission Group Limited, Mr. Lee Kai Choi
and Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited (“Forward
Investment”) had entered into a subscription agreement (the
“Subscription Agreement”) in relation to the subscription of
40% equity interests in Forward Investment by Keen Gate
(the “Subscription”) at a consideration of HK$300 million
(the “Consideration”). The Subscription was completed on 10
December 2012. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement,
Mr. Ye De Chao, Modern Admission Group Limited and Mr.
Lee Kai Choi (collectively, the “Guarantors”) jointly and
severally undertake to Keen Gate that the return to Keen
Gate, being the dividend receivable from the Group’s equity
interests in Forward Investment, shall not be less than 12%
of the Consideration per annum. In the event the return
to Keen Gate falls below such threshold, the Guarantors
shall compensate Keen Gate on a dollar-for-dollar basis (the
“Return Undertaking”) in cash on or before 15 May of each
calendar year.

The Return Undertaking of approximately HK$2.07 million
for the year ended 31 December 2012 was paid by the
Guarantors on 15 May 2013. In the opinion of the independent
non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) of the Company, the
Guarantors had fulfilled their obligations under the guarantee
for the year ended 31 December 2012.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, Forward Investment
suffered a loss and therefore would not be able to pay any
dividends to its shareholders, including Keen Gate. The
Return Undertaking for the year ended 31 December 2013
would be approximately HK$36 million. The Guarantors shall
compensate Keen Gate the amount of approximately HK$36
million on or before 15 May 2014.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Guarantors have
not yet fulfilled their obligations under the guarantee by
paying the compensation of approximately HK$36 million
to Keen Gate. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the
Guarantors shall fulfill their obligations on or before 15 May
2014. The Directors of the Company will closely monitor
the status of the fulfilment of the Guarantors’ obligations
regarding the Return Undertaking and will disclose to the
public as when the Guarantors have fulfilled their obligations
or when the Guarantors fail to fulfill their obligations on or
before 15 May 2014 by publication of an announcement.

The INEDs of the Company had been informed that Forward
Investment suffered a loss and would not be able to pay any
dividends to Keen Gate for the year ended 31 December 2013.
The INEDs of the Company will closely monitor the status
of the fulfilment of the Guarantors’ obligations regarding
the Return Undertaking and will provide an opinion (the
“INED Opinion”) on whether the Guarantors had fulfilled their
obligations under the guarantee by compensating Keen Gate
the amount of approximately HK$36 million on or before 15
May 2014 or not. The INED Opinion will be disclosed in the
Company’s next published annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
presently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors. The Audit Committee has reviewed with the
management and the Company’s external auditors the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting
process including the review of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2013.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at
the latest practicable date prior to issue of this report, the
Company has maintained the prescribed amount of public
float during the year and up to the date of this report as
required under the Listing Rules.
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AUDITORS

On 17 January 2014, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng resigned as
the auditors of the Company and the appointment of Elite
Partners CPA Limited was approved by the Shareholders at
an extraordinary general meeting held on 17 February 2014
to fill the casual vacancy.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
Elite Partners CPA Limited whose term of office will expire
upon the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
A resolution for the re-appointment of Elite Partners CPA
Limited as the auditors of the Company for the subsequent
year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Ye De Chao
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2014
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ELITE PARTNERS CPA LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

;) B st SR A ]

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE
INVESTMENT LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 58 to 193, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31
December 2013, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and
to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Except for the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence as explained below, we conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified
audit opinion.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION
ARISING FROM LIMITATION OF
SCOPE

Prior year’s audit scope limitation affecting
opening balances and comparative figures

The auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2012 contained
disclaimer opinion on limitation of the audit scope in relation
to interests in an associate, amount due from an associate
and financial asset at fair value through profit or loss which
had been set out in the auditor’s report dated 28 March 2013.

As the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2012 formed the basis for
the corresponding figures presented in the current year’s
consolidated financial statements, any adjustments found to
be necessary in respect of the carrying amounts of the above
mentioned (i) interests in an associate, (ii) amount due from
an associate; and (iii) financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss would have a significant effect on the opening
balances and consequential effect on the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2013 and
the results and the related disclosures thereof for the year
ended 31 December 2013.

Scope limitation — Share of result of an
associate

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had interest in an associate in respect
of 49% equity interests in Beijing Zhonggang Green Energy
Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the
“Associate”).
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Due to the fact that the directors of the Company were unable
to obtain sufficient financial information of the Associate
since 1 July 2012, the directors of the Company has not equity
accounted for its interest in the Associate for the period then
ended and has not presented adequate disclosures in relation
to the financial information of the Associate in accordance
with HKAS 28 (2011) “Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures” Moreover, the directors of the Company are unable
to determine whether any impairment loss was required for
the carrying value of interest in Associate and to disclose
or recognise its share of contingent liabilities or financial
liabilities of the Associate.

Scope limitation — Non-current assets held
for sale

During the year, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to dispose the 49% equity interests in the
Associate at a consideration of HK$315,000,000 (“Disposal”).
The Disposal has not been completed up to the date of
this report and as a result, the assets and liabilities of the
Associate had been classified to non-current assets held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

Due to the fact that the directors of the Company were unable
to obtain sufficient financial information of the Associate
since 1 July 2012, the directors of the Company have not
stated the assets of the Associate including but not limited
to (i) interest in associate; (i) amount due from the associate;
and (iii) financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, at
the lower of carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.
Consequently, the assets of the Associate classified as held
for sale included in the consolidated statement of financial
position are measured at the carrying amount at cost since
1 July 2012.
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As a result, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence and by any alternative means to obtain
such sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
measurement and valuation of the non-current assets held
for sale as at 31 December 2013.

Any adjustments found to be necessary in respect thereof
would have a significant and consequential effect on
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2013, the results and cash flows for the year ended
31 December 2013 and related disclosure thereof in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2013.

QUALIFIED OPINION ARISING FROM
LIMITATION OF SCOPE

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described
in the basis for qualified opinion paragraph, the consolidated
financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December
2013 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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REPORT ON MATTERS UNDER
SECTIONS 141(4) AND 141(6) OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE

In respect alone of the matters described in the basis for
qualified opinion’s paragraph:

- We have not obtained all the information and
explanations that we considered necessary for the
purpose of our audit; and

- We were unable to determine whether proper books of
account had been kept.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2014

Siu Edmund
Practising Certificate Number P05333

Suites 2B-4A, 20th Floor, Tower 5
China Hong Kong City

33 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 &2 —F—=—F+_-_A=+—HIFFE

2013 2012

TE-CF et ik s

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

M5 THET FET

Turnover S 4 6,683 13,617
Direct costs BHERA (842) (8,104)
5,841 5,513

Other revenue and net income E b lgas IR AHERE 5 36,051 9,920
(Loss)/gain arising on change in fair value of && ¥ N\ FEE S

investment properties Edz (BE) /W (51,000) 36,000
Gain on bargain purchase HEEE W - 54,124
Gain arising on change in fair value of AT EF AR

financial assets at fair value through ZERMEERATEES

profit or loss EEz W = 4,260
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR 2 WS 4,338 -
Share of results of associates FEAGE =R 2 FEE (4,620) (7.377)
Other operating expenses HibZERY (50,345) (74,374)
General and administrative expenses —BEITHEA (39,945) (51,620)
Loss from operations KEER (99,680) (23,554)
Finance costs B 5 A AR 6(a) (1,807) (4,632)
Loss before taxation BRBLATEE 6 (101,487) (28,186)
Income tax PS8 9 11,864 11,387
Loss for the year FREE (89,623) (16,799)
Attributable to: BEAk :

~ Owners of the Company — RREHEB A (85,148) (15,4714)

- Non-controlling interests — IR AR R M (4,475) (1,385)
Loss for the year FREE (89,623) (16,799)

Loss per share (HK cents per share)

BRERE (BREWL)

(1.99) cents

(0.36) cents

Basic FHK B el
(1.99) cents  (0.36) cents
Diluted E pe=l &AL

The notes on pages 67 to 193 form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 #Z —F—=F+ _-A=+—HIFZE

y ok K] 2012
—E—= —E—_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Loss for the year FREER (89,623) (16,799)
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hi 2w (FE) :
Items that may be reclassified to AR EN D AEECIEHE
profit or loss
Net translation differences on foreign MEBINETS Z[EH
operations ERFE 10,955 (2)
Share of other comprehensive income JE(RERE N a A 2 W s
of associates
- Exchange reserve — [E RS 3,977 (2,162)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the FERHMEZEIRE (&) -
year, net of tax NERBiE 14,932 (2,164)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAZHEIBHAEE (74,691) (18,963)
Attributable to: FE4S -
- Owners of the Company — KRRIEAR A (70,891) (17,569)
- Non-controlling interests — FEIERR AR B A (3,800) (1,394)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREEEEEEE (74,691) (18,963)

The notes on pages 67 to 193 form an integral part of these FO/EI1NBE VT ARNGEMBEHREK 2 — 30

consolidated financial statements. 13 o
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At 31 December 2013 R=ZE—=4#+=-A=+—H

2013 2012
—Eg—= —E——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M5 FExT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEREBEE
Investment properties "B 12 - 288,000
Property, plant and equipment Wz - BB MR 13 9,462 19,596
Goodwill S 14 - _
Intangible asset mWEE 15 75,103 122,559
Interests in associates /N o ey 16 350,970 644,610
435,535 1,074,765
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories =g 18 60 109
Trade and other receivables FEUE 5 B8R A & HAth FE UL FR IR 19 41,565 33,503
Financial assets at fair value through AT EF ABRER
profit or loss L EREE 20 - 7,350
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHES 21 122,566 25,009
164,191 65,971
Assets classified as held for sale DEERIEHEEE 28 334,544 -
498,735 65,971
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and other payables BT E S IR B A BT IR 22 (9,531) (14,380)
Interest-bearing borrowings, secured FFEEE - BEMA 23 = (115,062)
(9,531) (129,442)
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) REBEE (A&F) FE 489,204 (63,471)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERABAG 924,739 1,011,294
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At 31 December 2013 R=ZE—=4#+=-HA=+—H

2013 2012
—E—= —E—_F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B 5T FET FHIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BELEFIEAE 25 (18,776) (30,640)
NET ASSETS EEFE 905,963 980,654
CAPITAL AND RESERVES RA R #E
Share capital %N 27 213,496 213,496
Reserves fHiE 685,235 756,126
Total equity attributable to owners of AATEEAELERBE
the Company 898,731 969,622
Non-controlling interests FEHEBR AR R A 7,232 11,032
TOTAL EQUITY AR 905,963 980,654
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors RZZE—MOF=A-+ N \BLESSHELRE
on 28 March 2014, g -

Ye De Chao
EEE
Director

EZE

The notes on pages 67 to 193 form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza
=XE

Director

EZE

FO7TER1WBE T ALNGEMEHRER 2 — 3
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At 31 December 2013 R=ZE—=4#+=-A=+—H

2013 2012
—=2—= —ET——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
[{hE=s FHT FHETT
NON-CURRENT ASSET FREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RN £ 17 870,494 893,902
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Trade and other receivables TEUE 53018 N Eo A fE U 3R T8 19 530 11,803
Financial assets at fair value through AR FHER ABRER
profit or loss L ERMEE 20 = 7,350
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHES 21 11,133 9,312
11,663 28,465
Assets classified as held for sale DEERFIEHEEEE 28 18,620 -
30,283 28,465
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables N E SRR N E A EN KB 22 (3,162) (5,715)
(3,162) (5,715)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 27,121 22,750
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #&ERABERE 897,615 916,652
NET ASSETS EERE 897,615 916,652
CAPITAL AND RESERVES R R #
Share capital &7 27 213,496 213,496
Reserves [E 27 684,119 703,156
TOTAL EQUITY AR 897,615 916,652

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors ~ RZZT—F=A -+ \BLESTSHEWEE

on 28 March 2014. FizE -
Ye De Chao Lee Siu Yuk, Eliza
HEEE E=XE
Director Director
EE EE

The notes on pages 67 to 193 form an integral part of these ~ FH67E193BE 2 M ARG M Bk 2 — &

consolidated financial statements. e
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 #Z —F—=F+ _-A=+—HIFZE

Attributable to owners of the Company
RAREEAEL
Capital Retained
Capital redemption Convertible earnings/ Non-
Share Share  reserve reserve notesequity Exchange (accumulated controlling

capital premium  (note 1) (note 2) reserve  reserve losses) Total interests
-
EXGEE REORE TRERRE REER/ FER
Bx  ReEEE (K1) (Hzt2) BifRE EIRE (RHER) A REER ERAE
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000

BT BT AT AL TEL BT BT BT BT BT

At31December 2011and  RZE——%F

1January 2012 +-A=t+-H
(as previously reported) h-Z-——F
—R-A
(I%RFAZH) 213,496 756,049 72 69 11,375 195 (7908) 9739348 12,426 985774
Effect of change in SHHRED
accounting policies a7 - - - - - - 13,843 13,843 - 13843
At31December 2011and  RZF——F
1January 2012 (restated) ~ +=A=+—H
k=F--fF
—R—-H
(E=5) 213,496 756,049 72 69 11,375 195 5,935 987191 12,426 999,617
Exchange differenceson  12E7g5h
translation of financial LG
statements of overseas BHRE
subsidiaries JEREZ - - - - - 7 - 7 9) )
Share of other comprehensive JE(SB& AT,
income of associates 2EME - - - - - (2)62) - (2162) - (2,162)
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (15,414) (15414 (1,385)  (16,799)

Total comprehensive loss ~ FRZABEES

for the year - - - - - (2,155) (15,414) (17569 (1,394)  (18,963)
Redemption of convertible  EEAHEZH

notes - - - - (11,375) - 11,375 - - -
At 31 December 2012 RZ%-Z

TZA=+—-H 213,49 756,049 72 69 - (1,960) 1,896 969,622 11,032 980,654
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FeEgnR

For the year ended 31 December 2013 &2 —F—=—F+_-_A=+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
RRFHEARLE
Capital Retained
Capital redemption Convertible earnings/ Non-
Share Share  reserve reserve notes equity Exchange (accumulated controlling

capital Premium  (note 1) (note 2) reserve  reserve losses) Total interests
-
EXGEE RERE TARRE RERR/ FER
Bx  RHEE (K1) (Mt2) Biff ELRE (RHER) A REEZ ERAE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000

TAL BT BT TAT BT TAR TAT  ThEr  TET  TAR

At31 December 2012and  RZE—ZF
1 January 2013 +-A=1+-H
k=E-=F
-R—-H 213,496 756,049 72 69 - (1,960) 1,896 969,622 11,032 980,654

Exchange differenceson BB GHNHBAF
translation of financial BIBRRZER

statements of overseas ER

subsidiaries - - - - - 10,280 - 10,280 675 10,955
Share of other comprehensive JE(SE& AT E,

income of associates Ee - - - - - 3,977 - 3,977 - 3,977
Loss for the year EhEE - - - - - - (85148) (85148)  (4475) (89,623

Total comprehensive loss for A2 EEEAE

the year - - - - - 14,257 (85,048)  (70,891)  (3,800)  (74,691)
At 31 December 2013 RZF-=%

+ZA=+-HB 213496 756,049 72 69 - 12,297 (83,252) 898,731 7232 905,963
Notes: s -

1. The capital reserve of the Group represents the excessive 1. AEBERFEEWNBARGZMER BETE -
injection of the registered capital of a subsidiary.

2. Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of 2. EXBEREEHEUNA SR EFER RS ZHEE -
shares repurchased out of distributable profit.

The notes on pages 67 to 193 form an integral part of these FO7TRI19CBE M ARG M FEHRE 2 — 3
consolidated financial statements. e
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERafER

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #Z —F—=F+ _-A=+—HIFZE

2013 2012
—EBE—=f —E——F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B & FERT FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Loss before taxation BB RIS B (101,487) (28,186)
Adjustments for: MTIIER AR
Amortisation and depreciation of non- ERHEERENITE
current assets 6,136 9,140
Interest income B A (18) (5,756)
Loss/(gain) arising on change in fair value ®&WE QAT EEBEL
of investment properties 218 (W) 51,000 (36,000)
Gain on bargain purchase HEEE W = (64,124)
Gain arising on change in fair value of AT EFABRERZ
financial assets at fair value through TREEATEERELE Y
profit or loss Wz = (4,260)
Loss on written off of property, plant and %1% - S K REMR 2 518
equipment 1,635 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR Wi 29 (4,338) =
Impairment loss recognised in respect of  BLIEUE 5 BR 0K HAb FE U R
trade and other receivables TETERR 2 B EE 30 2,632
Impairment loss recognised in respect of FLERHER 2 RIEEE
goodwill - 27118
Impairment loss recognised in respect of Y% - BE R RIGHER
property, plant and equipment B EE 7,206 4,850
Impairment loss recognised in respect of L EEMKR 2 BERIE
intangible assets 43,109 39,874
Finance costs B TS RRZR 1,807 4,632
Share of results of associates i NI 4,620 7,377

Operating profit/(loss) before changes in & &L B E A 2 LR~

working capital (E5#8) 9,700 (32,803)
Increase in trade and other receivables  JEUE 5 BRFU H At FE U 2B

140 (32,087) (27,777)

Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERL,(3Em) 49 (109)
Decrease in trade and other payables FERTE 5 8R 51 I B Ath FE < 5RIE

R (3,473) (10,071)

Net cash used in operating activities REXBAERSFHE (25,811) (70,760)
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 &2 —F—=—F+_-_A=+—HIFFE

2013 2012
—EBE—=fF —E——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Bt 5 FERT FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXK
Interest received B UHE 18 5,379
Payment for the purchase of property, plant EEAME - BB M RiE 2 &K
and equipment (210) (8,430)
Payment for investment in associates REBERE 2T = (300,000)
Net cash inflow upon HENBRRRRSRAFRE
disposal of subsidiaries 29 130,821 =
Net cash generated from/(used in) REXKRE (FiFE)
investing activities BHEFEE 130,629 (303,051)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES mMEXEG
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (5,482) (5,490)
Redemption of convertible notes B O] AT R AR 4R = (65,000)
Increase in amounts due to non-controlling &1 3E2 A% A% B2 4 25 X IB 42
interests - 591
Interest paid BRHE (1,807) (3,549)
Net cash used in financing activities MEXBAERESFHE (7,289) (73,448)

Net increase/(decrease) in cashandcash BRERELZEY

equivalents ®wmOmd) B8 97,529 (447,259)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INETER S a2 8 28 (79)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of REWZRERIRESEEY

year 25,009 472,347
Cash and cash equivalents at the RERZEHERESEZEY

end of year 122,566 25,009

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash BE&RBELZEY 2 EH DI
equivalents
Cash and bank balances B MIRTTHE 21 122,566 25,009

The notes on pages 67 to 193 form an integral part of these FOTRI1BB 2 ARGEEMBEHREX 2 — 30
consolidated financial statements. o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated and registered in the Cayman Islands
on 16 June 1992 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 2 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The shares of the Company are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office of the
Company in the Cayman Islands is The R&H Trust Co.
Ltd., Windward 1, Regatta Office Park, West Bay Road,
Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands. The address of the
registered office and the principal place of business of
the Company in Hong Kong is Suite 1205, 12/F., Tower
6, The Gateway, 9 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

The Company (with its subsidiaries is collectively
referred to as the “Group”) is an investment holding
company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are
described in note 17.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

1.

e MBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #Z —F—=F+ _-A=+—HIFZE

—RER

FREEEEEFRAA ([RAR]) THiRE
FEREANE22ERBDE (—LA—F%
ORI - BERE RIEET) R—ANAZFR
AtARBERSESEMKRIA—RXHE
BRATF - RRABIRNDREBBERS M
BRAR ([HRZPT]) £ e RRBIRFES
HEZaMEE 2l AThe R&H Trust
Co. Ltd., Windward 1, Regatta Office
Park, West Bay Road, Grand Cayman,
Cayman Islands © ANQ AR E 2 5 Mt i
FERFELEMBRBEBNERDHEER
BOTRBRIAEFEOE1281205% °

ARR CEREMBAR - S8 [RNEE )
R—EREZER AR - EfBRRIZEEX
BRMEE17H5R -

RFEMIERRABITZY - BARREZY
E

4
AR o
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& MR

For the year ended 31 December 2013 &2 —F—=—F+_-_A=+—HIFFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESTTHEEE

POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance (a) EHIE8H

68

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“*HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments
and interpretations which are first effective
for the current accounting period of the Group
and the Company. It has also issued certain
new and revised HKFRSs which are available
for current accounting period of the Group and
the Company. Note 3 provides information any
changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in
the consolidated financial statements.

KR BRRCRETEGFEA
g ([BAEEAE]) B 2MAE
REBMBHREEN ([FAMBRE
ZH|]) ARBEABERZERNE
B EmEER  FEGFER (&
BERER]) KRB FBEARE
AHRAI R BB R RMED 2 HEMRTEM
W NG EMBHRTEETER
BAXZMBERAAES LETHA
(TEmRAD ZERWERE - X%
B ERETBRMEHIIMT -

BEGMASCEMETRAEE
RARRZAGHHRERERZE
AINERE NERHETRARER
RRR 2N TR ER 2 # 5] K&
(BRI EEM B MG LR - WE3REHE
IR FEFR I B 37 7] M AR B AT 2RI 5] 24

EUBRRTRRBTRBEEH
BEAKEERERR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #Z —F—=F+ _-A=+—HIFZE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2. TEDHEE @)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated

(b) REGESHERR 2%

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2013 comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
and the Group’s interests in associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements is the
historical cost basis except that certain financial
instruments and investment properties are
measured at fair value and non-current assets
held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

HE-Z_Z—=F+-_A=+—"HBItF
EZERAVMBRERBERRDT KEM
BAT 2 IGHE AN A& BB &
DR HEE o

REMBWERIIRAELRAEER
EEBRE T XAE S BRM
HAZBRAFEFAEZETEMIA
RIE MR RIZE®E R R FER
HERAR 2 BRESRZFHIEHE I
mENEERIBRIN ©

MBEBR BB ETEY B RE
U REEREAREARRELE
EBE WARFAXZE2®REHEE
hFET -~ AR R R - Bt BB R
RIBRBEEERERBBABERLE R
REZEEEMBARETE  HE&ERE
PRT B AR TR A A R I BN B
BHEERAE 2 REERFTEL#
o 2£% - BERAERATEARNINZSE
st o

Mt RAEARR DR ELERER
B o @EHAETZBRT - TIRMEEHERT
IR (B REFTEFEZBRIRE) &
BRI HRE K B HE (HEFTFER
TTHIR M RZ G5t HIR) #7 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 &2 —F—=—F+_-_A=+—HIFFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESHEE @)
POLlClES (Continued)

(c) MEBQRARFEZERRRERS

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling

70

interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only
substantive rights (held by the Group and other
parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the date
that control ceases. Intra-group balances and
transactions and any unrealised profits arising
from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the
same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly
to the Company, and in respect of which the
Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that
meets the definition of a financial liability. For
each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests either
at fair value or at their proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

ERI=PNCIDERS SETECAL vl § =N
SE2HEFARERBSEERMES
AENREERNEREHZERY
RO EZTOMmE - AIAREBEZEH
ZEB - RABAKERTEREN
B @EEAKEREMALREDN
BEEES -

KRB AR ZREBESNFMBEHE
EEHRIERAMFAGREMBERE -
SEARRHEzEHR RS REAEE

REMEL 2 ERAREREHN 5
RREEEMBRREZEME - &
BARRERZMELE 2 REHRER
TR BROR B3R A 2 TR R T LA
o MEERIOZERBETRZBERT

FEEBRBRER AL IFRARBEE
BALEEY Al PN 5 i Ali]
5 AKBEYREZFEDTEE AR
FEEBEIMER - UHASEREA
AENTASRABTRISTER L
BHRE -RUBXEBEHME - AF
ErEEEAFELRREENER
AIH) A B RFE B E 2 L Pl At & 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #Z —F—=F+ _-A=+—HIFZE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESFTHEER @)

POLICIES (Continued)
(c) MBARRIFZERBRRER (&)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling

interests (Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the
face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and owners of
the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not resultin a loss of control are accounted
for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments
are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity
to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or
loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control
is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost
on initial recognition of an interest in an associate
or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost
less impairment losses, unless the investment is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

FEBEBRERELES M ERREKRA
BARNBHEAAREEEDFHEINN
I - MANRE XA N Z FFEBA
RESIERFRIFERERED RN
REVEE AN 2HER N ERAER
PEBNGEER LR  TEFEGEBS
“PFEEEBERANZS

AEBK T ERBARIZREZHE A
AIEGNEPRERR ST AARK
BIR ABERA RN Z IR LI
ZRBCR R 2 & BRIA R IR EL AR 2
B B8 BETRBHELERRE

EAEERIE -HEARZER
B BREEZMERARZAAER
AR MAMELENRBERNIES
fR o ERAERKIZEREBIDREZA
(B AR 2 aRIR A FERER - it
THEEASTBER —SREEND
FiE - (ER) MR RFER—

BEnm A B ER -

RARBFBRRERA - KRB E
ZEBERARRERE R - BRIE
BREDBRFEHE (HFADER
FEHE 2 HEMAR) -

71



China Infrastructure Investment Limited « Annual Report 2013

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& MR

For the year ended 31 December 2013 {2 —F—=FF+ - A=+—HIFFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Goodwill (d) &HE

72

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or
more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets
of the unit on a pro rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in
the determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

WEEXBELNHERKBEH RS
BB R ERR (10E) 27 -

HEEARANE  BEesEEEH
AEAHNHRNAESNAEER
ﬁ$§$$1°

ROEBENREELEUGTFX
KB B RBUR % EALLA] 8L KR BUER
EITRERR - WREEEBEMHA
Yol RN EREE - RIRERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 B{2 —F—=F+ - H=1—HILFZ

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TEDHEE @)

POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Interests in associates (e) B QTR
An associate is an entity over which the Group B NRIEASBEEHEITEE

has significant influence and that is neither
a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.
Significant influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting,
except when the investment is classified as held
for sale, in which case it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”. Under
the equity method, investments in associates are
initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associates.

When the Group’s share of losses of an associate
exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

NI IEHER T‘JZBAA%{E%E’J
RS BE EAFENENSET
BERB W R EERRETREE
IR REBIZEBRZET °

Z%%M&é‘?&ﬁfﬁ)ﬂf
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ERELH [FIFEEZHFRBDEER
ERIEEEER| ETRIE - RIEE
mh  RBERRZRERVIRKA
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mMhEMEEREERFE) REE
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Interests in associates (Continued) (e) B NTIRER (&)

74

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of an associate recognised at the date
of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the
investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The requirements of HKAS 39 “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”
are applied to determine whether it is necessary
to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets” as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs to sell)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.

WERAREARNEED GBS QBN
WERARERNABMNEE  BER
IRBEAFFENERRASD
2 ARERREE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 #Z —F—=F+ _-A=+—HIFZE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TEDHEE @)

POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Interests in associates (Continued)

Upon disposal of an associate that results in
the Group losing significant influence over that
associate, any retained investment is measured
at fair value at that date and the fair value is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition
as a financial asset in accordance with HKAS
39. The difference between the previous carrying
amount of the associate attributable to the
retained interest and its fair value is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate
on the same basis as would be required if that
associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate would be reclassified to
profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets
or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) when it loses significant influence
over that associate.

When a group entity transacts with its associate,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not
related to the Group.

(e)

BENTER (8)

WO EBE RS AKEREY
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(f)

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown,
net of business tax and after eliminating sales
with the Group companies. Revenue is recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss as
follows:

Sales of properties

Sales of properties are recognised upon the
completion of sales contracts with customers;
completion of construction of relevant properties;
and registration of sales contracts with local
authority is completed, whichever is the later.
Deposits and instalments received on properties
sold prior to the date of revenue recognition are
included in the consolidated statement of financial
position as advanced proceeds received from
customers and grouped under current liabilities.

Rental income from investment properties

Rental income from investment properties is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss in equal instalments over the periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased
asset. Lease incentives granted are recognised
in consolidated statement of profit or loss as an
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as
income in the accounting period in which they are
earned.

Properties management income

Revenue from properties management income is
recognised when services were rendered.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(f)

(g)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Sale of natural gases

Revenue from the sale of natural gases is
recognised when the natural gas is delivered to
customers and is based on the gas consumption
derived from meter readings.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is
recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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(g) Leasing (Continued) (g) HME (&)

78

The Group as lessee

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
expenses are recognised immediately in profit
or loss, unless they are directly attributable
to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general
policy on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are
recognised as expenses in the periods in which
they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term, except where another systematic basis
is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to
enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased asset are consumed.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TEDHEE @)

POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Leasing (Continued) (g) HME (&)

Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification
of each element as a finance or an operating
lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear
that both elements are operating leases in which
case the entire lease is classified as an operating
lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump sum upfront payments) are
allocated between the land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values
of the leasehold interests in the land element and
building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land
that is accounted for as an operating lease is
presented as ‘prepaid lease payments’ in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, the entire lease is generally classified
as a finance lease and accounted for as property,
plant and equipment.
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(h) Shex

(h) Foreign currencies

80

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the entity’s functional currency are
recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise except for:

- exchange differences on foreign currency
borrowings relating to assets under
construction for future productive use, which
are included in the cost of those assets
when they are regarded as an adjustment
to interest costs on those foreign currency
borrowings;

- exchange differences on transactions
entered into in order to hedge certain foreign
currency risks; and

- exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming
part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in
other comprehensive income and reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on repayment of
the monetary items.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TEDHEE @)

POLICIES (Continued)
(h) ShE (4%)

(h) Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign
currency translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a
jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a
foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
accumulated exchange differences is re-attributed
to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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(h) Foreign currencies (Continued)

(i)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable
assets acquired arising on the acquisition of
a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in equity under the heading
of foreign currency translation reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred, except to the extent that they
are capitalised as being directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its
intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation
of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases when
substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use
or sale are interrupted or complete.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

()

(k)

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and
only when the Group demonstrably commits itself
to terminate employment or to provide benefits
as a result of voluntary redundancy by having a
detailed formal plan which is without realistic
possibility of withdrawal.

Income tax

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss because of items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.
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(k) Income tax (Continued)

84

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for
taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and associates, and
interests in joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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